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The Lewis Store
Name of Property

City of Fredericksburg, VA

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply.) (Check only one box.)

X | private X_| building(s)
public - Local district
public - State site
public - Federal structure

object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

N/A

Category of Property

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing

0 0 buildings
0 0 sites

0 0 structures
0 0 objects

0 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

COMMERCE/TRADE: Department Store

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

COMMERCE/TRADE: Organizational

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

COLONIAL: Georgian

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation: BRICK

walls: BRICK

roof: WOOD: Shake

other: STONE: Sandstone
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Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property. Explain contributing and noncontributing resources
if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as
its location, setting, size, and significant features.)

Summary Paragraph

The Lewis Store is located within the northern end of the National Register-listed Fredericksburg Historic District (VDHR
File Number 111-0132) in the City of Fredericksburg, Virginia, east of Interstate 95 and one block west of the
Rappahannock River. The building sits at the northwest corner of Caroline Street, a moderately busy one-way, two-lane
thoroughfare, and quiet Lewis Street. Surrounding the site are well-maintained, two-story and three-story buildings, most
of which are brick, dating from the early-nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries, including small businesses, residences,
and the Rappahannock Regional Library. A large park-like green space abuts the site’s northern boundary. The lot, which
slopes up slightly to the west, is thirty-three by eighty-two feet. The building sits on the property line at the southwest
corner, separated from the street by a brick public sidewalk. Its principal elevation faces east to Caroline Street and a
secondary elevation faces south to Lewis Street.

The two-story, front-gable, three-bay brick store is twenty-six feet wide by thirty-seven feet deep, with an interior-end
chimney on the west elevation. Rusticated ashlar sandstone quoins reinforce each corner and stone lintels with grooved
keystones cap the east-elevation openings. There is a corbelled-brick cornice and a chamfered water table. A shed-roof
frame addition, built in 2001, abuts the store’s west elevation.

The Lewis Store was built in 1749 as determined by dendrochronology. It was originally a one-and-a-half story, Georgian-
style store building and in 1808 a second story was added and some changes made to the exterior and interior.” The
current owner, Historic Fredericksburg Foundation, Inc (HFFI), rehabilitated the structure in 2000-2006 following the
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation.> The building is in good condition. Although the structure has
evolved over time, nearly all of the exterior and portions of the interior display integrity to the 1749 to 1823 period of
significance.

Narrative Description

Detailed Exterior Description (See continuation sheets entitled “Conjectural Elevations.”)

Overall

The brick foundation, capped by a chamfered water table, is laid in a Flemish-bond pattern. The walls are brick with
random glazed headers. Most of the building’s brick is original to the 1749 construction and the 1808 second -story
addition except for repair over time and damaged areas replaced in kind during the 2000-2006 rehabilitation.® Rusticated
sandstone quoins with beveled edges reinforce the building corners beginning at the water table and ending four brick
courses below the cornice. All windows are wood, double-hung sash with narrow muntins. There is a corbelled-brick
cornice. Bargeboards with a cyma crown molding cap the gable wall and butt wood shakes cover the roof, both added
during the 2000-2006 rehabilitation.

East elevation (principal elevation)

The brick wall is laid in a Flemish-bond pattern with grapevine joints. The gable brick is laid in three-course American
bond. There is a centrally-positioned, six-panel entry door with two stone steps and a five-light transom. Symmetrically
positioned on each side of the door are nine-over-six windows with six-over-six windows directly overhead on the second
story; a six-over-six window is in the middle of the gable. Splayed sandstone lintels with carved fluted keystones, including
a half-moon shape at the base of each flute, cap the first-story door and window openings.

In the early twentieth century, the 1749 central door was removed to accommodate a fireplace and the adjacent window to
the south was converted to a door.* During the 2000-2006 rehabilitation, workers installed a new door and window in their
original openings along with two new sandstone lintels and two stone steps

Above the entry door are vertical mortar joints indicating the former existence of a 1749 attic loading door.® A bl|nd
bulkhead, added during the 2000-2006 rehabilitation at the site of a 1749 bulkhead, lies under the north window.”
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South elevation (secondary elevation)

The wall is set in Flemish bond, with grapevine joints up to the level of the ninth quoin above the water table. A seven-
panel entry door, set to the inside edge of the wall, occupies the central position. Above the door is a five-light transom
over a decorative transom bar. There is a nine-over-six window at each side of the first and second stories, with an
additional nine-over-six window slightly offset above the door. In 1808 an original window opening was converted to the
door opening as it exists today.? Also in 1808 the present east-end window opening was added.’

Below the east window, just above sidewalk level, is a sandstone lintel with a keystone. This lintel originally capped a
basement window, but now is below grade. Archaeologists and preservationists differ over the cause of the rise in grade
level, but according to the archaeological report done by the Center for Historic Preservation in 1999, over time erosion
from the ridge overlooking Caroline Street apparently increased as Fredericksburg developed and the water-washed
gravels and sands accumulated at the bottom of Lewis Street. At the Lewis Store, this process is evidenced by the
appearance of coarser sands in the upper-level soil profiles. The rising grade level eventually necessitated the nineteenth-
century sealing of the basement window.*°

West elevation

The wall is laid in English bond, with grapevine joints, and the gable is laid in three-course American bond. A door is
located on the north end of the wall and is set to the inside edge of the wall. Above the door opening is a 1749 brick
segmental arch that is wider than the opening, indicating that the opening has been narrowed to its current width. A nine-
over-six window on the south end of the first story was added in 1808."* Directly over this window on the second story is a
six-over-six window and on the south end of the gable is a six-pane fixed window. There is an interior-end chimney that
was rebuilt above the roofline during the 2000-2006 rehabilitation.

A twelve-foot by seventeen-foot shed-roof frame addition with wood-sided walls and a standing-seam metal roof abuts the
store’s west wall. One can view the store wall from the addition’s exterior through full-height one-light windows on the
north and south sides of the addition and through a one-light French door on the south side. The addition houses a
kitchenette, restroom and utility equipment. HFFI constructed the addition and an adjacent small HVAC enclosure in 2001.

North elevation

The wall is set in Flemish bond with grapevine joints up to the level of the ninth quoin above the water table, and three-
course American bond above that. Double, four-panel entry doors, capped with a five-light transom, are set to the inside
edge of the wall and positioned slightly to the west of center. Nine-over-six windows sit at each side of the first story with
six-over-six windows above. In 1808 an original window opening was converted to the door opening as it appears today.™
Also in 1808 the present east-end window opening was added. 3

Detailed Interior Description (See continuation sheets entitled “First Floor Construction History.”)

The first story is composed of a “sales room” on the front (east) end and a “counting room” on the rear (west) end.
Separating the two rooms is a north-south cross passage with an exterior door at each end. Centrally-located doorways
from both the sales room and the counting room lead into the cross-passage. A staircase is in the northwest corner,
separated from the counting room by an east-west passage that leads from the cross-passage to the west door.

During the 2000-2006 rehabilitation HFFI added partition walls, based on architectural investigation, to recreate the sales
room and the counting room in their 1749 locations.** (The original partition walls had been removed at some point in the
building’s history.ls) HFFI restored the sales room to its 1749 appearance and the remainder of the first story to its 1808
appearance.™® Because the exterior was left at its 1808 appearance, the north and south sales room windows are visible
on the exterior but not the interior and the display window is visible on the interior but not the exterior. HFFI replaced the
floorboards and plaster in kind. The existing historic window frames, sashes, window casings, doors and door casings
were repaired; missing window and door components were replaced with historically-appropriate materials."’

A display window, mantelpiece and staircase survive from the period of significance. On the south wall of the sales room
is a 1749 splayed display window opening with original plaster jambs and painted wood head, visible behind Plexiglass.®
It is taller and positioned lower to the floor than the other window openings. According to the architect’s field notes, during
the 2000-2006 rehabilitation, brick infill was removed from the original opening, a new stainless-steel lintel was placed
above the historic header, the historic splayed plaster jamb and painted wood head were preserved, and a new 24-light
fixed window was installed using restoration glass.*
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The mantelpiece and staircase very likely date to the 1808 second-story addition and remodeling based on archltectural
investigation and because they are similar in form and construction to those found in Fredericksburg during this perlod
The mantelpiece, located in the counting room, has a tripartite entablature composed of an unornamented frieze with a
raised central portion and pilasters set on block plinths, a molded architrave and cornice, and a Greek-key molding
supporting the mantel shelf. The staircase, an open-string winder style, has a paneled spandrel with cyma recta brackets,
rectangular balusters, and a square newel post with a square cap. The staircase partially covers a splayed window.
Architectural investigation revealed that a 1749 staircase in the southeast corner of the counting room had apparently been
removed when the second story was added.”

Second story

HFFI converted the open space of the second story to offices in 2006, including adding drywall, door and window
surrounds, and interior doors.? The drywall system—a cavity wall with 2 x 4 wood studs faced W|th gypsum wallboard,
along with continuous vents at the top and bottom—provides ventilation for the exterior brick walls.”® The historic
floorboards were covered with plywood and wall-to-wall carpeting was laid on top. The existing historic wmdow frames and
sashes were repaired; missing window components were replaced with h|stor|cally appropriate materials.”* A steel
support system was installed in the floors of both the second story and the attic.”®> A Plexiglass viewport on the west wall
exposes three-course American bond brick and a plaster ghost of the 1749 (one-and-a-half story) roof line.

A 2005 mspectlon of the second story before the 2000-2006 rehabilitation revealed architectural evidence that is now
covered.”® The brick exterior walls, interior wood members and plaster remnants appeared to be mostly original to the
1808 addition. Floorboards were butt-jointed with cut nails. Exterior brick walls were laid in three-course American bond.
Two open-stud walls, slotted and secured to a ledger board on the floor, ran at the same location as the first-story north-
south passage walls. Lath remnants were riven, pit sawn and secured with cut and wire nails; plaster remnants were one
inch wide. A summer beam, hewn and pit sawn, ran the length of the second story. Most of the wood window headers
were scorched, suggesting a post-1808 fire. On the east wall there were remnants of a wood header above the 1749 attic
loading door.

Attic

One enters the attic via a lath-and-plastered cupboard winder staircase. The attic space is unfinished and undivided. The
gable walls are brick laid in three-course American bond and the rehabilitated chimney is laid in running bond. The
common-rafter roof system, which is mostly original to 1808, is composed of hewn and pit-sawn members. Rafters are
joined at the ridge with an open mortise and trenail. Collar beams are half-lapped onto rafters with cut nails. Sheathing
boards show signs of modern workmanship including circular sawing and wire nails, although some sheathing is pit sawn
and secured with cut nails. New steel and wood members on the attic floor strengthen the second-story floor.

Basement

An unfinished basement is accessed via open board stairs under the second-floor staircase. The floor is dirt. The walls,
laid in English bond, are original to 1749 except for the following: about half of the north wall was replaced during the 2000-
2006 rehabilitation; the north end of the east wall, where vertical mortar joints indicate the location of the original bulkhead
that was later infilled with brick; and the middle of the east wall, where protruding headers remain from an added (now
removed) fireplace. The 1749 tied-in fireplace foundation lies on the west wall. A new post-and-beam structural system is
sistered with 1749 pit-sawn and hewn first-floor joists; notches in the joists indicate the past existence of a summer beam.
Evidence of a 1749 support structure for the north-south passage above can be seen in bridging joists that have been
sistered with new members.

Condition

Four areas of minor deferred maintenance were noted: efflorescence on the exterior brick on the first few courses above
the water table and on the interior brick in the basement; the need for repointing on portions of the south and east
elevations; weathering of some of the quoins; and a small, east-west crack in the sales-room ceiling. Overall, the building
is in good condition.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

A Property is associated with events that have made a
X significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C abirthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)

COMMERCE

ARCHITECTURE

ARCHAEOLOGY: Historic — Non-Aboriginal

Period of Significance
1749-1823

Significant Dates
1749

1808

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

European

Architect/Builder
N/A

within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

The period of significance is 1749 to 1823 because this is the time during which the building functioned as a store; after

1823 it was used as a residence.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)
N/A
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and
applicable criteria.)

The Lewis Store is located in the Fredericksburg Historic District in the City of Fredericksburg, Virginia. From
dendrochronology it has been determined that the store was built in 1749 and that a second story was added in 1808. Itis
a three-bay, front-gable, Georgian-style brick building with stone quoins, has 962 square feet, and sits on a .062-acre lot.
Prominent landowner and shipper John Lewis erected the store and his son, Fielding Lewis, who was married to George
Washington’s sister, served as proprietor and then became owner upon his father’s death.

The Lewis Store is significant under Criterion A at the state level because it represents the early beginning of Virginia's
retail economy. It was built during a transitional period during which permanent stores in towns replaced informal and
dispersed trading. Stores like the Lewis Store offered the middle classes European manufactured goods that had
previously been accessible only to the upper classes.

The Lewis Store is significant under Criterion C at the state level because it is a rare surviving example of Virginia’s
earliest commercial architecture. The building is among a very small7group of Virginia stores built before 1750 and may be
one of only three brick stores in Virginia dating from this time period.?” The Lewis Store is rarer still because of its stone
quoins, a highly unusual feature on colonial store buildings and a rare display of gentry values in commercial architecture.

The Lewis Store is significant under Criterion D at the state level because of the information yielded during archaeological
investigations immediately adjacent to the building and within the basement. Data recovered during the archaeological
testing provided insight into the building’s changing uses over time and the evolution of the building fabric.

The period of significance is 1749 to 1823 because this is the time during which the building functioned as a store; after
1823 it was used as a residence. The building displays very good integrity to the period of significance, including its setting
in the Fredericksburg Historic District adjacent to a historic green space and proximity to buildings from the period of
significance. The exterior, along with portions of the interior, exhibit design, materials, workmanship and feeling from the
period of significance. Historic Fredericksburg Foundation Inc.’s (HFFI's) 2000-2006 rehabilitation, done according to the
Secretary of the Interior’'s Standards for Rehabilitation, preserved the building’s historic fabric and saved it from probable
eventual collapse. A deed of easement from HFFI to the Virginia Department of Historic Resources assures that the
building’s historic integrity will continue to be preserved.?®

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)
Significance under Criterion A

The Lewis Store represents the birth of the retail store in Virginia. In the seventeenth century, trading for imported goods
had been limited to itinerant peddlers and to plantation owners, who exchanged tobacco for European goods at their river
docks. That model changed after 1730, when increased population density in towns, along with the Tobacco Inspection
Act, produced a business climate favorable to permanent retail stores. By the close of the eighteenth century the local
retail store was most people’s primary source of new consumer goods.29

Fredericksburg provided an ideal business climate for early retail stores including the Lewis Store. Because of
Fredericksburg’s location on the Rappahannock River at the furthest navigable point for ocean-going vessels, it developed
as a tobacco port in the seventeenth century and rose to prominence as a transshipping center in the eighteenth century.

The town’s status as an important economic center was secured when the Virginia General Assembly named
Fredericksburg an official tobacco inspection station in 1730.%° Because of Fredericksburg’s economic importance, it
developed into a governmental, religious, and social hub. It was home to the Spotsylvania County seat, monthly court
days, semi-annual fair days, and the parish church.** By 1759 the town had grown to the point that the General Assembly
authorized a boundary expansion.32

The Lewis Store represents an eighteenth-century change in consumption patterns often called the “consumer revolution.”
During the second half of the century, shops began offering an increased variety and quantity of European manufactured

7
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goods at prices America’s middling ranks could afford. Th|s changed the lives of the middle class who had new access to
objects previously available only to their social supenors % Lewis Store owner William S. Stone exemplified this

phenomenon in 1790 advertisements for linens made in Germany and Ireland, window glass, and exotic teas, “at very low
prices.”* The consumer revolution may even have stoked the fires of the American Revolution When Ieaders like Thomas

Jefferson argued that the pursuit of happiness included the right to personal economic improvement.*

An important social change took place as stores like the Lewis Store arose in the eighteenth century. In a society where
groups were formally separated by class, gender and race, all people could now shop together at the local store. Whether
the customers were black or white, women or men, poor or rich, they would have shared a common experience of
consumer activity in the sales room, but the merchant would have invited only the elite into his heated counting room.?

Significance under Criterion C

The Lewis Store is a rare surviving example of the earliest commercial architecture in Virginia. It is among a small handful
of store buildings dating from the first half of the eighteenth century, and even rarer because of its brick construction and
Georgian-style architecture.*” In a period when most Virginia stores were modest wooden structures, this building featured
brick construction with striking stone quoins, a chamfered water table and a corbelled-brick cornice. Quoins are very
uncommon on commercial buildings of this period, occurring most often on high-profile structures like Pohick Church in
Lorton and Aquia Church in Stafford.

A search of Virginia Department of Historic Resources data produced only two other examples of pre-1760 brick stores,
both of which appear on the National Register of Historic Places. One |s the 1739 Prentis Store in Colonial Williamsburg,
which had been converted to a gas station before its 1931 restoration.®® The other is Yorktown s Old Custom House, built
in the 1720s and restored in 1929 by an architect associated with Colonial Williamsburg.*°

The Lewis store represents a highly unusual juxtaposition of gentry values and commercial architecture. Lewis designed
his store in the Georgian style, which represented the gentry’s idea of fashionable architecture. The building, modeled
after Fredericksburg’s brick public buildings like the court, market and parish church, reflects the Lewis family’s status as
members of the ruling elite.

The Lewis Store embodies a typical eighteenth-century Virginia store in several ways. Its orientation—the gable end
facing the street pierced by a central door and two flanking windows—predominated in early Virginia. On the interior, it
exhibits (via architectural evidence) the common coIomaI store layout of a sales room in the front and a counting room in
the rear, in this case separated by a cross-passage.* % With this arrangement the merchant could offer goods to everyone
in the unheated sales room and reserve the heated counting room for entertaining his best customers. Evidence of
another common early store element exists above the main entrance door, where a brick outline of a 1749 attic loading
door is clearly visible. Here the merchant would have used a hoist to access upstairs storage.

However, in some respects the store is unusual for the period. At nearly 1,000 square feet, the building is larger than the
majority of early Virginia stores*' and is wider than most of Fredericksburg’s eighteenth-century commercial buildings.
Another feature not common in early Virginia stores is the tall display window in the sales room. It may be the oldest
display window in V|rg|n|a for which physical evidence exists, because such windows were unusual until the early
nineteenth century 2" Another unusual aspect of the 1749 portion of the building was the absence of exterior entrances
(later altered) at each end of the cross-passage. Finally, the building’s Georgian style and highly-ornamented brick
construction with stone quoins set it apart from other store buildings of the period.

Significance under Criterion D

In 1999, archaeological investigations carried out immediately adjacent to the building’s exterior walls and within the
basement yielded information about the building’s evolution over time. Through archaeological fieldwork, an understanding
was gained of how the building’s site had changed, as erosion during the nineteenth century caused the adjacent street
grade to increase almost five feet. The rise in street grade necessitated changes to the building fabric, including infilling of
at least one window. Furthermore, test units within the basement provided information about changing uses of the interior
space during the nineteenth century. The information yielded by the archaeological investigations helped illuminate the
Lewis Store’s architectural integrity and its evolution since the late eighteenth century, and thus provided additional
information pertaining to the resource’s architectural and historical significance.
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Historic Integrity

Overall, the Lewis Store exhibits very good integrity to the 1749-1823 period of significance, including setting, design,
materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.

Several aspects of the store’s historic setting remain. The building is located in the Fredericksburg Historic District. The
adjacent buildings, which all date to the early-nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries, are low-profile and loosely-packed.
Also remaining are a large green space to the north described in 1805 as a “large Garden & Clover Padock” and terraced
topography to the west called “a good falling garden” in 1777.% Although the grade level of the site has risen about five
feet over time, causing the burial of the 1749 raised foundation, the stone lintel that once capped a west-elevation
basement window is visible just above sidewalk level.**

The building’s current exterior retains excellent integrity. The historic brick structure survives including the corbelled
cornice and water table, although portions of the walls and the entire chimney above the roofline were replaced during the
2000-2006 rehabilitation. The sandstone quoins and one window lintel also survive. The 1749 appearance of the
building’s upper portion as it existed prior to the 1808 second-story addition is evident in 1) a plaster ghost of the west
roofline visible at the second-story viewport and 2) vertical mortar joints on the east elevation indicating the former
existence of an attic loading door. On the east elevation the door, first-story south window, and accompanying stone
lintels are not historic; they were added during the 2000-2006 rehabilitation at the 1749 door and window locations. The
frame addition on the west end does not detract from the building’s integrity.

Interior features that convey the historic character of the building and survive from the period of significance include the
original mantelpiece, staircase, and display window, located on the first floor. The basement retains integrity to 1749
except for an added modern support system; historic components include mostly original brick walls and fireplace
foundation, some original joists and cross-passage supports, and vertical mortar joints at the location of the original
bulkhead. The attic exhibits integrity to 1808. On the second story the 2006 addition of offices covers the historic fabric in
that portion of the building, but this does not negatively impact the overall historic integrity because the exterior and the
first-story interior, where store activities took place, remain unaffected.

Developmental history/additional historic context information

In 1742 John Lewis of Gloucester County, Virginia purchased 406 acres just outside the northern boundary of
Fredericksburg from Francis Thornton of King George County.45 Lewis, a prominent landowner and planter, operated a
shipping business that traded in the West Indies, Madeira, England, New England and Virginia.*®

By 1744 Lewis had erected a wooden store on his property at the northeast corner of what later became Caroline and
Lewis Streets, now the location of the Rappahannock Public Library.47 In the late 1740s John sent his third son, Fielding
(born July 7, 1725), to Fredericksburg as an apprentice to the store manager.48

In 1749 John Lewis built the current brick structure as a 1 % story “storehouse” (i.e., store) at the northwest corner of what
later became Caroline and Lewis Streets, across Caroline from the wooden store.*® Fielding was the proprietor, selling
such items as rum, wine, linen, buttons, gloves, sugar, coffee, stockings, glass tumblers, a beer glass, brass sconces, a
woman’s hat, a snuff box, a “brest” buckle and a “soop spoon."50 Fielding became the owner of the building upon his
father's death in 1754.>* In a 1757 letter George Washington instructed his mother, who lived in Fredericksburg, to
purchase osnaburg, cotton, hose and thread in “Mr. Lewis' Store.”?

Fielding Lewis was a prominent member of the Fredericksburg gentry. Besides serving as a court justice and as a
vestryman at St. George’s Parish, he was also a member of the House of Burgesses from 1760 to 1765.>° He acted as
commissioner of the Fredericksburg arms manufactory during the Revolutionary War and oversaw the construction and
operation of the factory.> In 1759, Fielding succeeded in getting the General Assembly to exgnand the city limits to
encompass his land adjacent to the northern boundary of the city, including the Lewis Store.®

Fielding and his second wife, Betty Washington, sister of George Washington, lived at the northeast corner of Princess
Anne and Lewis Streets, just west of the store.”® The home would later be described as "a large and commodious brick
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dwelling-house, two stories high."*’ In the 1770s Fielding and Betty moved to a Georgian-style mansion, now a National

Historic Landmark known as “Kenmore,” they had built a short distance west of the store.®® The cost of building Kenmore,
along with £7,000 of unreimbursed arms manufactory expenses, forced Fielding in 1773 to mortgage the land on which his
store was located.*

In 1776 the Lewises sold the brick store (Lot 83), their adjacent home (Lot 84) and six adjoining lots to Edward Carter.®
Carter stabled horses, which he raced at the popular Jockey Club racecourse and gentleman’s club, on the block adjoining
William S. Stone, an active storekeeper, bought the store from Carter in 1793.% According to a 1796 insurance policy, the
improvements included "a store house one story high built of brick covered with wood, 37 feet long 26 feet wide... a brick
lumber house two story high 30 ft. Iong 23 ft. wide covered with wood...[and a] ...lumber house 23 feet wide 44 feet long
built of wood and covered with wood."®* A 1796 deed from Carter to Stone added a six-foot strip along the north side.®®
Stone recorded a mortgage of £425 on the property to Thomas Colson in 1800.%

Stone advertised frequently in the Virginia Herald newspaper. In 1795 he offered rum, sugar, teas (green and hyson),
Madeira, Port & Lisbon wines, fabrics such as Irish linens and “raffia sheetings”, sole leather, window glass, salt,
gunpowder and shot, bar iron, nail rods, bacon, and yellow and brown paints. An 1802 entry advertised Plaster of Paris
and Spanish Hides.®

Thomas Green purchased the store from Stone in 1803, taking over the Colson mortgage, and Green and Stone then
operated the store together.66 Green evidently defaulted on the mortgage, because the Court of Spotsylvania sold the
property to William Waller in 1806.%" Shopkeeper William Taylor rented the building in 1807.%®

The building was damaged in an 1807 fire which began at William Stanard’s residence, formerly Fielding Lewis’ home, just
west of the store, and burned four entire blocks. Tenant William Taylor reported that “my store was three times on fire but
fortunately this wind appeared to change for a moment and have saved it and also most of my goods.”® Waller added a
second story and made other changes in 1808, although it is unclear whether fire damage had prompted the
improvements.70 The 1808 land tax record indicates the building as “repairing,” which is consistent with the 1808 addition
date. Taylor was the tenant again in 1809 and then it was unoccupied in 1810 and 1811."

Fredericksburg mayor and merchant Robert Mackay purchased the property from Waller in 1815.” Court records show
Mackay as a merchant in lawsuits involving accounts for ceramics and salt in 1816 and 1817.”® Mackay erected a
residence, which still stands, on the site of Fielding Lewis’ former home at the northeast corner of Princess Anne and
Lewis Streets.”* Mackay sold the store building to Thomas Seddon in an 1823 foreclosure.”

There is no evidence that the building was used as a store after 1823 except for two brief periods in the early twentieth
century.” Insurance policies from 1823 onward show the building as a dwelling.”” From 1823 to the present there have
been a total of fourteen owners, of which the IoncBJest tenures have been the Benjamin Clarke family (1837-1841 and 1843-
1897) and the Savee-Pitzer family (1922—1983).7

In 1983 the Pitzer family sold the building to Aequanimitas Too, a Virginia Limited Partnership, which sold to Robert C.
Wheeler Il and Mary Ellen Wheeler in 1996.”° The Wheelers transferred it by Deed of Gift to the Historic Fredericksburg
Foundation, Inc. (HFFI), in 1996.%°

In 1999, the Center for Historic Preservation at Mary Washington College conducted archaeological investigations at Lewis
Store to gather information about the initial construction of the building and to examine the building’s evolution over time.
Historic grade changes around the building, particularly adjacent to the eastern end of the south wall, locations of original
entrances to the first floor and basement, and changes to the basement layout were specifically targeted for investigation.
Five test units were opened along the exterior walls of the building and two units were opened within the basement. The
investigations recovered information that demonstrated the historic alterations to the building’s fabric occurred as a result
of changes in use of space within the building and due to the growth of Fredericksburg. The archaeological findings
indicated that the original building likely was in place by the 1760s, and that the building’s basement originally rose four
feet above the street grade. Erosion between 1780 and 1860 caused the ground surface to rise about five feet (to its
present level) and necessitated changes to the building. A central door on the east wall of the building was infilled, a
bulkhead entrance near the north end of the east wall eventually was infilled, and at least one window on the south wall
was infilled. Additionally, the basement test units revealed that a wall once divided the basement in half. Artifacts
recovered from the test units provided temporal periods within which these alterations took place, with all modifications

10



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 5/31/2012)
The Lewis Store City of Fredericksburg, VA
Name of Property County and State

having been completed by the late nineteenth century. The data recovered from the archaeological investigations informed
subsequent rehabilitation work on the building.**

After extensive dendrochronological, archaeological and architectural investigation, in 2000-2006 HFFI rehabilitated the
building at a cost of over one million dollars, of which a sizable portion was a grant from the Commonwealth of Virginia.
The Virginia Department of Historic Resources designated the 2000-2006 rehabilitation as a “certified rehabilitation”
because the work conformed to the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation.?” HFFI currently occupies the
building as their offices. The Virginia Department of Historic Resources holds an easement on the property.

Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate)
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property  .062 acre
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage.)

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 18 284804 4242600 3

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
2 4

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

All that certain lot or parcel of land with all buildings and improvements thereon and all appurtenances and privileges
thereto attached, situate, lying and being at the northwest corner formed by the intersection of Lewis and Caroline Streets,
in the City of Fredericksburg, Virginia, bounded on the north and west by the property formerly belonging to the estate of
George W. Shepherd, on the east by Caroline Street, and on the south by Lewis Street, and more fully described by a plat
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of survey made by John Goolrick dated May 9, 1935, and recorded in the Clerk’s Office of the Circuit Court of the City of
Fredericksburg, Virginia in Deed Book K at page 332.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

The boundary is the current-day lot lines of the property, taken from “Deed of Gift” dated December 19, 1996. These lot
lines are historically associated with the property and encompass the store building which is the significant resource.

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle Cristine Lynch

organization Volunteer date May 29, 2012
street & number 6603 Prospect Street telephone 540-898-8698
city or town Fredericksburg state VA Zip code 22407
e-mail vacristine@aol.com

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
e Maps: AUSGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all
photographs to this map.

e Continuation Sheets

e Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Photographs:

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch)
or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

The following is true for all photographs:

Name of Property: The Lewis Store

City or Vicinity: Fredericksburg

State: Virginia

VDHR File Number: 111-0132-0033

Photographer: Cristine Lynch

Location of Original Digital Files: Virginia Department of Historic District Archives

0001 Date Photographed: March 1, 2012
South elevation (left) and east elevation (right), camera facing northwest

0002 Date Photographed: March 1, 2012
East elevation, camera facing west

0003 Date Photographed: March 1, 2012
West elevation, camera facing northeast
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0004 Date Photographed: March 1, 2012
North elevation, camera facing south

0005 Date Photographed: February 29, 2012
Window lintel at sidewalk level on east end of south elevation, camera facing north

0006 Date Photographed June 1, 2012
Addition, camera facing south

0007 Date Photographed: April 10, 2012
Mantelpiece in counting room

0008 Date Photographed: April 10, 2012
Staircase with addition in background

0009 Date Photographed: April 10, 2012
Display window in sales room

0010 Date Photographed June 1, 2012
Interior east wall of sales room

0011 Date Photographed: April 10, 2012
Viewport west wall second story showing 1749 roofline

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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Photograph 2: Tooled joints in the
brickwork near the base of Unit 2. (Lewis
Street side of the building).
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Photograph 3: Brickwork inside the
window wells at the base of Unit 2.
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Photograph 4: West profile of Unit 4, showing bulkhead
entrance to basement. (Caroline Street side of the
building).
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Photograph 5: Fill within the interior of the bulkhead

-entrance, Unit 4. (Caroline Street side of the building).

Photograph 6: West Profile in Unit 5, showing stone

and brick remnants of entrance. (Caroline Street side
of the building).
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